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The Van Cortlandt Manor, as we see it today, comprises a number of major and 
minor buildings, some of which are restorations of original material, others 
being more or less complete reconstructions. The most important of the group 
is the Manor House itself, whose existence dates from the 17th century.

Possibly as early as 1665, the sturdy stone walls of the basement of the 
later Manor House formed the sides of a border trading post and fort. The 
walls are pierced with pudlogs, and the original flat-top structure apparently 
was similar to the Mohawk Valley house forts of this early era. By 1677, 
Stephanus Van Cortlandt began to acquire land at this site, and between 1681 
and 1687, appears to have begun the first unit of his country house on the 
old fort's walls. By 1697, he owned some 85,000 acres in this area, and a 
Royal patent dated June 17, 1697, elevated this great estate into the Manor 
of Cortlandt, and made Stephanus Van Cortlandt its First Lord.

It was not until 1749 however that the building became a Manor House in fact 
as well as name, when Pierre Van Cortlandt, Third Lord of the Manor, occupied 
it as a permanent all-year residence. Even then, his Manor house was 
essentially a Dutch colonial country house, and by no means a Dutch mansion 
comparable to the Philipse Manor Hall, in Yonkers. The plain and distinctive 
symbol of a vigorous colonial society, gained added importance through its 
owner Pierre Van Cortlandt, who was prominent in the public life of the 
Province of New York, and during the Revolution, was one of the foremost 
supporters of the colonial cause. During the Revolution, the hospitable walls 
of the Manor House repeatedly welcomed Rochambeau, Lafayette, von Steuben, 
Washington, and other leaders of the American forces.

The Manor House is a two-and-a-half story building, built into the side of 
a hill so that the ground floor is on grade on the south and the floor above 
is on grade on the north. The walls are of sandstone, massive in the basement 
to a thickness of three feet, with wide mortar joints, and openings at the 
jambs and sills trimmed in yellow "Dutch Brick."

All of the exposed stone had once been plastered or stuccoed and scored with 
mortar joints, to imitate coursed ashlar. This was removed sometime during 
the 19th century with the result that the original stone joints then exposed 
were altered. Two large wings were added in the 19th century which have now 
been removed.

Between 1688 and 1745, it is probable that the roof was raised and the verandah 
added. In 1747, Pierre Van Cortlandt inherited the house and in the next two 
years, made considerable improvements so that he might occupy it the year-round. 
All of the existing original wall panelling probably dates from these years, and
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Van Cortlandt Manor is of outstanding national importance as a physical 
document of the frontier culture of the Hudson Valley region during the colonial 
era. It is a simple and unique symbol of the economic and political development 
of the more rugged life on the Hudson frontier as contrasted with the more 
elaborate manorial life on the baronies nearer the provincial capital at New 
York City. The Manor is furthermore one of the few remaining landmarks of the 
Hudson Valley which has witnessed the entire development of that region from 
the period of European settlement to the present day.

Architecturally, the site is undeniably important. Its simplicity of line and 
detail sets it apart from any other manorial dwelling in this region. Its con­ 
struction intimately reflects the needs of life on an expanding frontier, in 
contrast with the refinements of detail found in such an ostentatious colonial 
home as Philipse Manor Hall, at Yonkers. An unusually fine specimen of the 
Dutch-English colonial type, the Van Cortlandt Manor House is one of the best 
preserved examples of colonial architecture of the 18th century tradition, even 
though a small portion of the structure was doubtless built in the last quarter 
of the 17th century and later enlarged.



MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES

Colonial Williamsburg Inc., Architectural Record of the Restoration of Van Cortlandt
Manor (Williamsburg, May 1959).

Rogers W. Young, Report for the NFS, Van Cortlandt Manor (Washington, D.C., June 1940) 
H. D. Eberlein, The Manors and Historic Homes of the Hudson Valley (Philadelphia 1924) 
Helen W. Reynolds, Dutch Houses of the Hudson Valley before 1776 (New York, 1929).

ACREAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY 

UTM REFERENCES

A[I 8 1
ZONEcUa'

'_5"9 ^ 3 1 C
EASTING
' 3 9 if' k 2 0

^562060
NORTHING

k 5 6 i 1 9 0

k £>€

"I 8
ZUiNt1 8'

je uorrcinuaT;: 

5 9 k k k 0
EAliTiNG
59^630

4561620

4561030
VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The holding of land at Van Cortlandt Manor purchased two decades ago by Mr. John D. 
Rockefeller, doubtless is part of the original grant of 1697 covering some 85,000 
acres. The beautiful and peaceful country setting for the Manor House, Ferry House, 
and the minor and major dependencies, here at the heart of the manor, doubtless 
captures at least some of the flavor of Van Cortlandt's 18th century country 
property, and should certainly be preserved as an important adjunct to the physical
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then too, the roof was raised to its existing shape and lines. That roof, a 
Flemish gambrel, is one of the most beautiful features of this handsome house, 
a status achieved by its grand dramatic sweep, its clean, crisp lines, and by 
its proportions.

The basement floor contains a large kitchen room, a sitting room called the 
Old Parlour, and a long narrow storage room behind the front two rooms. Most 
of the living after the 1740's was done on the floor above, where there were 
four rooms, two to either side of a stair entrance hall. There, entrance 
could be made at either the north side where a diminutive Dutch stoop is 
used or at the formal south side, where the country grandeur of this house 
fully reveals itself through the beautiful verandah and the double flight 
stair. A flight comes from the east and another from the west, leading to a 
platform from which emerges a single run up to the center of the seven-bay 
house. The wall surface of this elevation, as well as the others, is punctuated 
in various places by a number of pudlog holes which have at various times been 
mistakenly described as "loop holes" for supporting small arms, but in fact are 
too high for such usage, come in some places at partition walls, and are neither 
large enough nor sufficiently splayed to have accommodated 18th century firearms.

The gable ends are covered with wide-beaded weatherboarding above the verandah, 
and, at the northern elevation, above the tops of the windows.

One of the prerogatives of the Lord of Van Cortlandt Manor was the operation 
of a ferry across the Croton River, and to this end, the Van Cortlandt ! s main­ 
tained the Ferry House, about .100 yards east of the Manor House. It too has 
now been restored. Although seriously damaged by fire in the 20th century, 
enough of the original framing members and other structural features remained in 
place from which to determine the original form of the house, the roof pitch, 
and the wide overhang. The story-and-a-half house was built of a heavy mortised 
and tenoned oak frame with brick nogging, covered on the south side by a brick 
veneer and by a beaded wood siding on the other three sides.

Built into the side of a hill, down by the river, is a small building used as an 
Ice House. It too has been restored on the exterior, while its interior has 
not been restored. The gabled stone and brick building, with its wide doors 
and pedimented overhang, originally stood very near to the shore of the Croton 
River, but now does not. It must be remembered that the Croton River has been 
dammed up, with an important amount of its water diverted to New York City, so 
that its interaction with the manor today has markedly changed from that of the 
18th century.
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The root cellar, the landscape, and the gardens, are also restorations, while 
reconstructions on the manor are:

1. The Well Head at the Manor House
2. The Smoke House at the Manor House
3. The Necessary House at the Manor House
4. The Garden Cistern at the Manor House
5. The Office
6. The Necessary House at the Ferry House
7. The Well Head at the Ferry House
8. The Kitchen at the Ferry House
9. The Ferry Dock

Contemporary Buildings on the site are:

1. The Admissions House
2. A Visitor Accommodations Building

The Van Cortlandt Manor is today owned and operated by Sleepy Hollow Restorations, 
Inc., a group organized and funded by the late John D. Rockefeller, Jr. They 
are also the owners of Sunnyside, the home of Washington Irving, and Philipsburg 
Manor at North Tarrytown, New York. Van Cortlandt Manor is meticulously maintained 
by Sleepy Hollow Restorations, Inc., which regularly shows it to the public for 
a fee.
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remains. By means of the accompanying photogrammetric map of Van Cortlandt 
Manor prepared by Charles H. Sells, Inc., Consulting Engineers, in April 25, 1977, 
the physical boundary of the national landmark has been outlined in black lines 
of the entire ownership of the corporation.

northvesterly direction for approximately .6 of a mile to a point; thence easterly 
for 190 1 to a point; thence north vest .3 of a mile to a point; thence easterly 
for 820 • to a point parallel to N. Y. Route 9A; thence southeasterly for .3 of 
a mile crossing the Croton River to a point; thence southwesterly in an irregular 
fashion for approximately .8 of a mile to the point of origin.

Parcel #2
Beginning at a point east of and parallel to U. S. Route 9, proceed north­ 

westerly across the Croton River for .3 of a mile to a point; thence north­ 
easterly for 200* to a point; thence north 360* to Riverside Avenue; thence north 
east for 75 ' to a point; thence proceed northwest parallel to Riverside Avenue 
for 675* to a point; thence north east for 300'; thence northwesterly for 175 f ; 
thence northeast for 175'; thence northwest for 50 * to a point; thence northeast 
225'; thence easterly 165 ' to a point; thence north easterly for 650 », thence north 
for 50 1 ; thence northeast for 250* to a point in the Croton River; thence north 
375 •; thence northeast for 725 '; thence north for ta) •; thence northwesterly for 
^50*; thence west for 100 f ; thence in an irregular northern fashion for TOO 1 ; 
thence east for 50 '; thence south for 350 •; thence southeast for 380* to a point 
near the center of Deer Island, thence north east for 150 '; thence southeasterly 
for .k of a mile to a point west of High Bridge Road; thence southwesterly 175* 
to apointj thence in an irregular southeastern fashion for .2 of a mile to a 
point; thence westerly for 300 *; thence souther nly 960'; thence southwesterly 
for 175'; thence southeast for 80», thence southwest for 75 '; thence northwesterly 
for 220 f ; thence 300 ' southwesterly to a point; thence southeast 235*; thence 75* 
to the point of origin.

This boundary was established in this manner so as to preserve the historic 
resources and vista as near as possible.

GPO 892 455
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